# Compensation Policy for Executive and Investment Management Positions

#### Contents

C	ontents	1
G	eneral Program Overview	3
	Purpose	3
	Rationale	3
	Authority	3
	Compensation Administration and Management	4
	Covered Positions	4
	Program Elements	4
	Base Pay Overview	5
	Incentive Award Overview	5
	Standard Performance Levels and Definitions	5
	Special Pay Overview	6
	Tax Section	6
В	ase Pay	6
	Base Pay Ranges	6
	Determining Base Pay Ranges	7
	Current Base Pay Ranges	7
	Salary Surveys	8
	Base Pay Upon Appointment	8
	Base Pay Increase and Salary Adjustment Matrix	9
A	nnual Incentive Plan	9
	Elements of Annual Incentive Plan	9
	Annual Incentive Plan Cycle	10
	Development of an Annual Incentive Plan	11



	Status Reports and Plan Changes	. 12
n	centive Awards	12
	Annual and Long-Term Incentive Awards	. 12
	Annual Incentive Award Ranges	. 12
	Annual Incentive Award Computation	. 13
	Annual Incentive Plan Performance Periods	. 13
	Annual Incentive Award Calculation (Investment Returns and Metrics)	. 14
	Rating Scale for Key Business Objective Measures on Annual Incentive Plans	. 14
	Long-Term Incentive Award Opportunity	. 15
	Long-Term Incentive Award Performance Measurement	. 16
	Long-Term Incentive Award Determination	. 16
	Discretionary Performance Adjustments	. 16
	Pro-Rata Awards	. 17
	Authority to Defer, Reduce, or Eliminate Incentive Awards	. 18
	Action Upon Unsatisfactory Performance	. 20
	Continued Employment Requirement; Board Discretion Under Special Circumstances	. 20
	Time of Payment	. 21
Sp	pecial Pay	21
	Special Within-Range Base Pay Adjustment – Investment Management Positions	. 21
	Special Within-Range Base Pay Adjustment – Executive Positions	. 22
	Interim Appointment	. 22
	Recruitment Differential	. 23
/€	ear-End Performance Appraisal Process (Incentive Awards and Base Pay Increase)	24
	Performance Appraisal Process Overview	. 24
	Annual Incentive Award Determination Process	. 24
	Base Pay Increase and Overall Performance Rating Scale	. 25
	Performance Appraisal Approval Process	. 25
₹.	evision History	27

#### **General Program Overview**

#### **Purpose**

The compensation policy has been developed over years of public review, discussion, and debate. It represents the strategic decision that pay must be high enough to encourage highly qualified individuals to accept and remain in positions, but not so high as to attract candidates solely for the compensation. Moreover, compensation systems must be carefully structured to both recognize labor market forces and reinforce maximum performance through placing a substantial portion of total compensation at risk. This pay-at-risk approach places a premium on achieving objectives that are directly connected to the CalPERS Board of Administration's strategic and business plans. As a result, the recruitment and retention of highly skilled executives and investment management professionals serve as the foundation for the organization's overall success.

#### **Rationale**

The rationale for establishing a compensation policy for executive and investment management positions covered by this policy is based on consideration of the labor market conditions affecting the recruitment and retention of professionals in the fields of institutional investing, actuarial valuation and pension administration, most of whom are recruited from the private sector. Especially in the case of investment management professionals, the civil service salary structure differs substantially from that of the for-profit sector, the primary recruitment source. Not only are these positions more highly compensated in the for-profit sector than traditional civil service pay scales can accommodate, but total cash compensation in the for-profit sector is tied to pay-for-performance and incentive bonuses in a manner that makes fixed civil service salary ranges and steps impractical for recruiting and compensating such professionals.

#### Authority

SB 269, enacted in 2003, amended Government Code Section 20098 to provide that the Board of Administration shall fix the compensation of the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Actuary, Chief Investment Officer and other investment officers and portfolio managers whose positions are designated managerial. The Government Code was further amended in 2007 and 2011 to include the General Counsel and Chief Financial Officer, respectively; and again in 2019 to include the Chief Operating Officer and Chief Health Director.

All covered positions, except the exempt Chief Executive Officer, shall be filled through general civil service appointments and are subject to most of the civil service provisions of existing law, including the tenure provisions governing managerial employees. The positions are not eligible to receive Merit Salary Adjustments (MSA) as provided in Government Code Section 19832. This

policy describes the program components of base pay, performance (incentive) awards, and other special pay provisions comprising the compensation system for covered positions.

#### **Compensation Administration and Management**

The CalPERS Board of Administration (Board) reserves the right to rescind or modify this policy and the compensation schedules derived from them at any time.

#### **Covered Positions**

**Executive Management Positions:** 

- Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
- Chief Actuary
- Chief Financial Officer
- Chief Health Director
- Chief Investment Officer<sup>1</sup> (CIO)
- Chief Operating Officer
- General Counsel

**Investment Management Positions:** 

- Chief Operating Investment Officer
- Deputy Chief Investment Officer (DCIO)
- Managing Investment Director
- Investment Director
- Investment Manager
- Associate Investment Manager

The covered positions listed above may change based on any future amendments to Government Code Section 20098.

#### **Program Elements**

There are three components to the CalPERS Executive Compensation Program:

- Base Pay / Salary
- Pay-for-Performance / Incentive Pay
- Special Pay

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Considered an Investment Management Position for purposes of determining base pay ranges (see page 7).

#### **Base Pay Overview**

- Each covered position classification has a discrete salary range (or base pay range)
- Base pay ranges are based on relevant public and private sector market data gathered every two years, or as the Board deems necessary
- Movement within defined base pay ranges is driven by the annual employee performance appraisal process or other compelling circumstances such as equity or retention

#### **Incentive Award Overview**

Incentive awards are intended to further the mission of CalPERS by providing "at-risk" pay for a portion of pay consistent with the CalPERS total compensation philosophy. The intent of this "at-risk" program is to promote an integrated focus on achievement or progress towards organization-wide, long-term strategies.

- Covered positions may be eligible for annual and/or long-term incentive awards; incentive award potential varies by position
- An incentive award is a form of pay-for-performance which is intended to ensure CalPERS is meeting critical organizational objectives
- Annual incentive awards are contingent cash awards reflecting an individual and/or organizational achievement of measurable performance on objectives or measures documented in an Annual Incentive Plan, among other conditions
- Long-term incentive awards balance performance with the long-term goals of the fund, reflecting the fund's performance, with annual payouts occurring at the end of five-year rolling performance periods if certain conditions are satisfied

#### **Standard Performance Levels and Definitions**

Performance will be assessed and scored using the following standard rating scale:

#### **Performance Rating Scale and Definitions**

#### Maximum - Exceptional (Distinguished Performance)

Performance far exceeds expectations due to exceptionally high quality of work performed, resulting in superior quality outcomes. Responsible for exceptional or unique contributions which have significant impact on the organization. Completion of objectives far exceed expectations for timeline and/or budget allocation.

#### Slightly Above Target – <u>Consistently Exceeds Expectations</u> (Superior Performance)

Performance consistently exceeds expectations, and the quality of work overall is excellent. Goals are exceeded or met under challenges which were at times out of their control and required sustained extraordinary effort.

#### Target - Fully Meets Expectations (Fully Successful Performance)

Performance consistently meets expectations, at times possibly exceeding expectations, and the quality and timeliness of work overall is very good. Work products achieve desired results, and employee demonstrates responsiveness to priorities. Completion of objectives was always on time and on budget.

#### **Performance Rating Scale and Definitions**

Slightly Below Target – <u>Inconsistently Meets Expectations</u> (Inconsistent Performance)
Performance expectations are met inconsistently, and/or one or more critical goals are not met. Achieved results are at significantly lower than expected levels. Completion of objectives may have sometimes been on time and on budget, but improvement is needed in one or more areas.

#### Threshold – Does Not Meet Expectations (Unsatisfactory Performance)

Performance is consistently below expectations and/or reasonable progress toward critical goals was not made. Responsiveness to changes in priorities is slow; work products are incomplete. Significant improvement is needed in many important areas.

#### **Special Pay Overview**

Special pay provisions are designed to address specific or extenuating circumstances:

- Special within-range salary movement may be granted to address retention, internal equity, or extraordinary performance, subject to appropriate approvals
- Additional compensation may be granted in conjunction with interim assignment of additional responsibilities until a position is filled
- A recruitment differential, or one-time payment upon appointment to a position, may be provided to eligible appointees based on an individual's specific circumstances

#### **Tax Section**

The provisions of this Policy will be administered and interpreted in a manner intended to comply with sections 409A and 457(f) of the Internal Revenue Code ("Code") and the regulations and guidance issued thereunder. It is intended that payments under this Policy satisfy, to the greatest extent possible, the exemption from the application of Code sections 409A and 457(f), and any state law of similar effect, provided under Treasury Regulation section 1.409A-1(b)(4) and proposed Treasury Regulation section 1.457-12(d)(2), namely as "short-term deferrals."

#### Base Pay

#### **Base Pay Ranges**

Base pay ranges, rather than single rates of pay, will be established for positions covered under Government Code Section 20098(a).

Determination of base pay ranges will be based upon one or more of the following:

- Consideration of internal equity factors
- Relevant marketplace salary survey data gathered every two years, or as determined by the Performance, Compensation and Talent Management Committee (PCTMC)
- A review of relevant data when a position becomes vacant

 Consideration of industry standards and best practices relative to executive and investment compensation

#### **Determining Base Pay Ranges**

At the discretion of the PCTMC, the target quartile for covered positions may be determined based on market salary data for the comparator groups below at the time each salary survey is conducted.

Base pay ranges are established by using a blend of private and public-sector data as follows:

#### **Executive Management Positions:**

- 1/3 Weighting Leading US and Canadian public funds
- 1/3 Weighting Select California-based agencies (including large local agencies)
- 1/3 Weighting Banks and insurance companies

#### **Investment Management Positions:**

- 2/3 Weighting Large and complex US and Canadian public funds
- 1/3 Weighting Private sector asset management organizations of comparable size
   (\$150B to \$350B AUM) that are key competitors for CalPERS team members, including:
   investment management/advisory firms, university endowment funds, insurance
   companies and banks

#### **Current Base Pay Ranges**

The following base pay ranges and associated quartiles are effective July 1, 2020, unless otherwise noted:

Position	Base Pay Range	Max of 1 <sup>st</sup> Quartile	Max of 2 <sup>nd</sup> Quartile	Max of 3 <sup>rd</sup> Quartile	Max of 4 <sup>th</sup> Quartile
Chief Executive Officer	\$377,250 - \$628,750	\$440,125	\$503,000	\$565,875	\$628,750
Chief Actuary	\$206,250 - \$343-750	\$240,625	\$275,000	\$309,375	\$343,750
Chief Financial Officer	\$234,000 - \$390,000	\$273,000	\$312,000	\$351,000	\$390,000
Chief Health Director	\$318,750 - \$531,250	\$371,875	\$425,000	\$478,125	\$531,250
Chief Operating Officer	\$251,250 - \$418,750	\$293,125	\$335,000	\$376,875	\$418,750
General Counsel	\$251,250 - \$418,750	\$293,125	\$335,000	\$376,875	\$418,750
Chief Investment Officer	\$431,250 - \$718,750	\$503,125	\$575,000	\$646,875	\$718,750

Position	Base Pay Range	Max of 1 <sup>st</sup> Quartile	Max of 2 <sup>nd</sup> Quartile	Max of 3 <sup>rd</sup> Quartile	Max of 4 <sup>th</sup> Quartile
Deputy Chief Investment Officer	\$339,900 - \$566,500	\$396,550	\$453,200	\$509,850	\$566,500
Chief Operating Investment Officer	\$258,750 - \$431,250	\$301,875	\$345,000	\$388,125	\$431,250
Managing Investment Director	\$309,000 - \$515,000	\$360,500	\$412,000	\$463,500	\$515,000
Investment Director	\$240,750 - \$401,250	\$280,875	\$321,000	\$361,125	\$401,250
Investment Manager	\$183,000 - \$305,000	\$213,500	\$244,000	\$274,500	\$305,000
Associate Investment Manager	\$125,250 - \$208,750	\$146,125	\$167,000	\$187,875	\$208,750

#### **Salary Surveys**

To ensure base pay ranges are appropriate and relatively competitive with the defined market comparator group, a comprehensive salary survey of all comparable executive and investment management positions is conducted every two years, or as the Board deems necessary. Special surveys may also be done to validate the existing range or establish a new recruiting range when a position becomes vacant or a new position is established. In the intervening years, base pay ranges may be adjusted by an amount reflective of general annual private sector salary movement as substantiated by current market data. The implementation date of any revised or newly established pay range will be determined by the Board at the time the range is approved.

#### **Base Pay Upon Appointment**

Individual base pay is determined at the time of hire by the hiring supervisor based on a well-defined and objectively scored competency and situational framework related to factors such as internal equity, value of skills and/or expertise, length of similar experience, and other relevant factors.

For the Chief Executive Officer, base pay is determined by the Board, based on the recommendation of the PCTMC. An individual's base pay upon appointment may not exceed the maximum for the established pay range of the position, and requires the following approvals:

Position	Approver(s)
Chief Executive Officer	Board (upon recommendation of PCTMC)

Position	Approver(s)
Chief Actuary	Chief Executive Officer
Chief Health Director	(by delegation from the Board)
Chief Financial Officer	
Chief Operating Officer	
Chief Investment Officer	
General Counsel	
Deputy Chief Investment Officer	Chief Executive Officer
Chief Operating Investment Officer	Chief Investment Officer
Managing Investment Director	(by delegation from Chief Executive Officer)
Investment Director	
Investment Manager	
Associate Investment Manager	

#### **Base Pay Increase and Salary Adjustment Matrix**

Individual base pay increases are considered annually in conjunction with the performance appraisal process. While an annual base pay increase is not guaranteed, an individual may be granted an increase based on the Overall Performance Rating on their annual performance appraisal and as guided by the following matrix:

Overall Performance Rating	Percentage Increase
Exceptional	5%
Consistently Exceeds Expectations	4%
Fully Meets Expectations	3%
Inconsistently Meets Expectations	2%
Does Not Meet Expectations	0%

Annual base pay increases will be based upon the written performance appraisal, unless otherwise recommended by the PCTMC to address existing retention or pay equity considerations. A base pay increase may be withheld if there is a violation of CalPERS' policies and/or unsatisfactory demonstration of CalPERS Leadership Competencies or Core Values.

If the annual increase, as defined by the Merit Matrix, places the individual's base pay above the maximum for the base pay range, the individual will be placed at the maximum for the range. Under no circumstance can the base pay exceed the range maximum.

#### **Annual Incentive Plan**

#### **Elements of Annual Incentive Plan**

The basis for payment of the annual incentive award is the Annual Incentive Plan, which will tie annual incentive awards to the following distinct segments of the plan:

Organizational Performance Outcomes (e.g., Incentive Metrics, investment returns)

• Individual Key Business Objectives (e.g., business goals, leadership)

All participants will have Organizational Performance Outcomes as part of their Annual Incentive Plan. Specific Organizational Performance Outcomes may vary from participant to participant. Participants may or may not have Individual Key Business Objectives.

Organizational Performance Outcomes will be quantifiable metrics that reward for PCTMC preapproved performance criteria in categories such as the following:

- Operational Effectiveness: Measures organizational efficiency
- Stakeholder Engagement: Measures member and/or employer perceptions
- Customer Satisfaction: Measures member and/or employer and/or employee perspectives on service received
- Investment Returns: Measures total fund and/or asset class and/or portfolio returns

Covered positions responsible for investment compliance oversight or investment financial independent check functions will not have Investment Returns as an Organizational Performance Outcome.

Through CalPERS' best efforts and whenever possible, Individual Key Business Objective performance measurements will be objectively based on specific, measurable, attainable, timebound, ethical, and risk-weighted focal points for the participant relative to the Organizational Performance Outcome categories discussed above.

Organizational Performance Outcomes and Individual Key Business Objectives will each be assigned a weight, with total weighting per Annual Incentive Plan not to exceed 100%. Weights, like the applicability of each metric, may vary from participant to participant. Performance will be rated as outlined in *Standard Performance Levels and Definitions* (pages 5 and 6).

The Discretionary Modifier is an upward or downward adjustment that can be applied to all participants on an individual basis, as detailed in *Discretionary Performance Adjustments* (pages 16 and 17).

#### **Annual Incentive Plan Cycle**

The Annual Incentive Plan cycle consists of the following activities:

- Annual Incentive Plan Development
- Semiannual Performance Reporting
- Performance Evaluation based upon achievement of Annual Incentive Plan measures
- Board approval, which generally occurs in or around September of each year

#### **Development of an Annual Incentive Plan**

Prior to the beginning of the fiscal year (or as soon as practical for new hires), each participant develops an Annual Incentive Plan comprised of organizational performance outcomes and individual key business objectives incentive plan measures for approval as follows:

Position	Approver(s)
Chief Executive Officer	Board
	(upon recommendation of PCTMC)
Chief Actuary	Chief Executive Officer
Chief Financial Officer	(by delegation from the Board)
Chief Operating Officer	
Chief Investment Officer	
General Counsel	
Deputy Chief Investment Officer	Chief Executive Officer
Chief Operating Investment Officer	Chief Investment Officer
Managing Investment Director	(by delegation from Chief Executive Officer)
Investment Director	
Investment Manager	
Associate Investment Manager	

Organizational Performance Outcomes and Individual Key Business Objectives will be measured against approved performance criteria (e.g., benchmarks, enterprise performance targets). To ensure consistency with CalPERS long-term strategies, all measures require the review of appropriate supervisors and the Board's investment consultant as follows:

Position	Supervisor	DCIO	CIO	Investment Consultant <sup>2</sup>	CEO	Board
Chief Executive Officer	No	No	No	Yes	No	Yes
Chief Investment Officer	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	No
Chief Actuary Chief Financial Officer Chief Operating Officer General Counsel	No	No	No	No	Yes	No
Deputy Chief Investment Officer	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
Chief Operating Investment Officer	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
Managing Investment Director	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
Investment Director Investment Manager Associate Investment Manager	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Investment Consultant review is required for all Investment Return performance outcomes.

#### **Status Reports and Plan Changes**

Each participant must prepare status reports on their Individual Key Business Objectives at midyear (covering July 1 through December 31) and year-end (covering January 1 through June 30). Performance data on Organizational Performance Outcomes is reported at year-end.

Mid-year status reports require performance check-in meetings with each participant's immediate supervisor, and year-end status reports require a final year-end performance review discussion. The CEO will provide mid-year and year-end reports to the board and participate in related performance discussions.

Under extenuating circumstances, changes to incentive plan measures may be accepted and require the following approvals:

Position	Approver(s)
Chief Executive Officer	Board
	(upon recommendation of PCTMC)
Chief Actuary	Chief Executive Officer
Chief Financial Officer	(by delegation from the Board)
Chief Operating Officer	
Chief Investment Officer	
General Counsel	
Deputy Chief Investment Officer	Chief Executive Officer
Chief Operating Investment Officer	Chief Investment Officer
Managing Investment Director	(by delegation from Chief Executive Officer)
Investment Director	
Investment Manager	
Associate Investment Manager	

Investment Return performance measure changes also require review by the Board's investment consultant, who serves as an independent check to ensure consistency with established performance objectives, investment policies, and compliance procedures prior to approval and integration into the plan.

#### **Incentive Awards**

#### **Annual and Long-Term Incentive Awards**

An incentive award is part of an individual's total compensation: a payment opportunity based on achieving specific objectives or measures as defined in an Annual Incentive Plan or Long-Term Incentive Plan, subject to other conditions described herein.

#### **Annual Incentive Award Ranges**

The Board, upon recommendation of the PCTMC, sets the incentive award ranges for all covered positions. The incentive award range represents the percentage of base pay available

to be earned based on the level of achievement (threshold, target, or maximum) on the Annual Incentive Plan measures. The "target award" for any given annual incentive award range is set to two-thirds of the incentive award range maximum.

Current annual incentive award ranges are displayed in the table below. Annual incentive award ranges will be periodically reviewed by the PCTMC, and any change to established incentive award ranges must be approved by the Board. Maximum annual incentive opportunities may never exceed the ranges outlined below, but ranges may vary by position based on differing roles and responsibilities within the organization, as determined by the CEO and to ensure alignment between peer positions.

Position	Annual Incentive Award Range	Annual Target Award
Chief Executive Officer	0 - 150%	100%
Chief Actuary	0 - 105%	70%
Chief Financial Officer	0 - 105%	70%
Chief Operating Officer	0 - 105%	70%
General Counsel	0 - 105%	70%
Chief Investment Officer	0 - 270%	180%
Deputy Chief Investment Officer	0 - 180%	120%
Chief Operating Investment Officer	0 - 135%	90%
Managing Investment Director	0 - 165%	110%
Investment Director	0 - 120%	80%
Investment Manager	0 - 75%	50%
Associate Investment Manager	0 – 60%	40%

#### **Annual Incentive Award Computation**

Annual incentive awards are computed using the following formula:

Measure X Acl	Level of hievement X Aultiplier)  Target Award	= Incentive Award
---------------	--	----------------------

#### **Annual Incentive Plan Performance Periods**

Quantitative performance measures tied to investment returns will generally be based on five-year, multi-year performance against relevant benchmarks, utilizing an award schedule approved by the Board. The purpose of the schedule is to align the investment award schedules for individuals with the long-term sustainability objectives of the organization.

Quantitative performance measures other than total fund or specified asset class performance (if applicable) will generally be based on annual performance, whether internal performance improvement objectives or relevant benchmarks.

Individual Key Business Objectives will generally be based on annual performance.

The performance measurement periods and the provisions of the instructions for calculation are effective July 1, 2016 and will remain in effect until the issuance of a replacement schedule by the Board.

#### **Annual Incentive Award Calculation (Investment Returns and Metrics)**

The annual incentive award for any investment return metric will be calculated based on five-year performance, relative to benchmark, based on the fiscal year a participant began employment in a covered position. The incentive award for all other Organizational Performance Outcomes will be calculated based on annual performance. Below are sample award calculations for Organizational Performance Outcomes.

**Sample 5-Year Investment Return Payout Table** (payout ratio for intermediate results will be determined by interpolation):

Variance (bps) from Benchmark	Payout Ratio (Multiplier)
+10	1.50
+5	1.00
0	0.00

#### **Sample Incentive Metric Payout Table:**

Sample Scores	Performance Level	Payout Ratio (Multiplier)
> 70%	Maximum	1.50
> 65% to 70%	One Up from Goal	1.25
> 60% to 65%	Goal	1.00
> 55% to 60%	One down from Goal	0.75
> 50% to 55%	Threshold	0.50
≤ 50%	Below Threshold	0.00

#### Rating Scale for Key Business Objective Measures on Annual Incentive Plans

The following scale describes an individual's level of achievement on Individual Key Business Objectives and the corresponding multiplier used when computing the annual incentive award:

Rating Scale for Key Business Objective Measures	Rating/Multiplier (Intermediate points are interpolated)
Exceptional	1.5
Consistently Exceeds Expectations	1.25
Fully Meets Expectations	1.0
Inconsistently Meets Expectations	0.5
Does Not Meet Expectations	0

Definitions for Performance Ratings are as outlined in *Standard Performance Levels and Definitions* (pages 5 and 6).

#### **Long-Term Incentive Award Opportunity**

Initial long-term incentive (LTI) award values are based on the lower of:

- A participant's actual annual incentive attributable to the first year of the five-year performance period, or
- ii. A participant's annual incentive range target in the first year of the performance period.

Current long-term incentive award ranges are displayed in the table below. Long-term incentive award ranges will be periodically reviewed by the PCTMC, and any change to established incentive award ranges must be approved by the Board. Maximum long-term incentive opportunities may never exceed the ranges outlined below, but ranges may vary by position based on differing roles and responsibilities within the organization, as determined by the CEO and to ensure alignment between peer positions. The opportunity levels outlined below are based on an incumbent's base salary at the start of the Long-Term Incentive performance period and not the incumbent's base salary at the end of the Long-Term Incentive performance period.

Position <sup>3</sup>	Long-Term Incentive Award Range	Target Long- Term Incentive Award
Chief Executive Officer	0 - 150%	100%
Chief Investment Officer	0 - 270%	180%
Deputy Chief Investment Officer	0 - 180%	120%
Chief Operating Investment Officer	0 - 135%	90%
Managing Investment Director	0 - 165%	110%
Investment Director	0 - 120%	80%

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Long-Term Incentive eligibility applies to the CEO and investment management positions within the Investment Office.

-

Position <sup>3</sup>	Long-Term Incentive Award Range	Target Long- Term Incentive Award
Investment Manager	0 - 75%	50%
Associate Investment Manager	0 - 60%	40%

#### **Long-Term Incentive Award Performance Measurement**

LTI awards are measured on a five-year performance period based on absolute Total Fund returns calculated using the compound annual growth rate ("CAGR") or annual returns throughout the performance period.

Payouts occur at the end of the performance period, with payouts occurring annually for each overlapping performance period thereafter, if certain conditions are satisfied.

#### **Long-Term Incentive Award Determination**

Target/goal performance levels for the entire performance period are based on the Board-approved expected rate of return (actuarial assumed rate of return) in the first year of the performance period. These board-approved performance levels must be achieved for payout to occur.

Threshold and target Total Fund return levels are set at the same value, meaning there will be a 0.0 payout multiplier for all returns below target/goal, and a 1.0 multiplier if the target return is achieved. Maximum performance levels are set 120% above the target/goal performance level, unless otherwise determined by the Board.

Payouts at the end of the performance period can range from 0% to 150% of the initial LTI award value based on Total Fund performance and Board-approved performance levels. Payouts for Total Fund performance between target/goal and maximum levels will be linearly interpolated.

#### Sample Long-Term Incentive Payout Table:

Performance Level	5-Year Total Fund Return Level	Payout Ratio (Multiplier)
Maximum	8.16%	1.5
Target/Goal	6.8%	1.0
Below Target/Goal	Less than 6.8%	0.0

#### **Discretionary Performance Adjustments**

Discretion can be exercised to adjust an individual's incentive award in the following situations:

- An annual incentive award can be adjusted upward to any percentage (not to exceed the maximum of the individual's associated incentive range) based on extraordinary qualitative individual contributions.
- An annual incentive award can be adjusted downward to any percentage, or eliminated altogether, based on unsatisfactory individual performance, violation of CalPERS' policies, and/or unsatisfactory demonstration of CalPERS Leadership Competencies or Core Values. (For example, in situations of non-adherence to CalPERS' risk management principles, policies, processes, or procedures, an annual and/or long-term incentive award can be reduced by either 50% or eliminated entirely, based on the severity of non-adherence.)

These adjustments will be made based on the annual performance evaluation process and will take into account qualitative factors such as performance relative to CalPERS' culture and values; leadership; extraordinary contributions, efforts, or results; development and successful implementation of business or stakeholder imperatives; or strategic workforce activities involving succession planning, retention and flight risk, or talent supply or development.

Discretionary Modifier adjustments will be administered as follows:

Position	Approval Authority
Chief Executive Officer	Board
	(upon recommendation of PCTMC)
Chief Actuary	Chief Executive Officer
Chief Financial Officer	(by delegation from the Board)
Chief Operating Officer	
Chief Investment Officer	
General Counsel	
Deputy Chief Investment Officer	Chief Executive Officer
Chief Operating Investment Officer	(based upon recommendation of the Chief
Managing Investment Director	Investment Officer)
Investment Director	
Investment Manager	
Associate Investment Manager	

Discretion exercised by the Chief Executive Officer must be disclosed to the PCTMC as part of the annual incentive award determination process.

#### **Pro-Rata Awards**

Annual and long-term incentive awards may be prorated based on months of service for participants who are appointed on or before December 31 of the fiscal year and meet continued employment conditions (page 20). The recommendation for a pro-rata incentive award will be based on the nature of the performance measures, the level of progress in their achievement, as well as overall performance.

An individual appointed on or after January 1 of the fiscal year will not be eligible to receive prorated annual or long-term incentive awards for that fiscal year and will not become eligible to receive annual and long-term incentive awards until after completion of the following full fiscal year, providing continued employment conditions are met (pages 20 and 21).

An individual who vacates a covered position within six months of appointment shall not receive an annual or long-term incentive award for that fiscal year.

An individual who is promoted from the CalPERS Investment Officer classification series to a covered position during the fiscal year would be eligible to receive incentive awards based on the incentive plans and annual base salaries of both positions (as pro-rated to reflect the mid-year appointment), subject to the applicable policy provisions and calculation processes outlined in the respective Investment Officer and Executive and Investment Management Positions policies. Partial year awards shall not be granted to an individual who has served fewer than a combined six months in both positions during the fiscal year.

#### Authority to Defer, Reduce, or Eliminate Incentive Awards<sup>4</sup>

Payment of incentive awards shall be subject to and conditioned upon all of the following (among other conditions described herein):

In the event that Total Fund for a performance period is negative, and such negative return exceeds the benchmark for the period, then the Board will have the discretion to reduce, defer or eliminate all or a portion of an incentive award that would otherwise have been made. In the event the Board elects to defer payment of an award to a future date (a "Deferred Payment Date"), the deferred incentive award shall remain subject to forfeiture until the Deferred Payment Date and shall be conditioned upon the employee continuing to perform services for CalPERS up to the Deferred Payment Date, as described below. Where in the event that the Board elects to defer payment of an award to a subsequent fiscal year, payment of the award may be deferred up to 115 days beyond the end of the first subsequent fiscal year in which the one-year absolute return on the Total Fund exceeds zero percent (0%). To the extent payment is deferred for more than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year for which the incentive award is payable, the incentive award shall be credited with earnings that approximate the absolute return of the Total Fund for the deferral period as determined by the Board, but not in excess of 15% annually. The Board shall not be obligated to treat all employees eligible to an incentive award alike in determining whether to defer, reduce or eliminate an incentive award, how large a portion to defer or reduce, and when to pay the deferred or reduced incentive award.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The terms "disabled," "disability," "retired," "retires" and "retirement" throughout the policy are used as defined in California Public Employees' Retirement Law sections 20026, 20027 and 20060.

- a) An employee will be eligible to receive an incentive award for any period only if the employee has complied with all CalPERS policies applicable to the employee, and regulatory requirements throughout the period, as determined by the Board in good faith. A policy or regulatory violation in a prior period shall be treated as a continuing violation in each subsequent period through the date as of which the Board determines that the violation was adequately remedied. All references to the Board in this subsection and the following subsections also refer to the Board's delegate or CalPERS staffing on behalf of the Board, and all references to "employees" in these subsections refer both to current employees and former employees.
- b) If the Board believes an employee is not entitled to an incentive award due to a policy or regulatory violation, it will notify the employee in writing by certified mail or personal service on the employee. If the employee disputes that finding, the employee must so notify the Board in writing within 15 days of receiving the Board's notice. If the employee does not timely notify the Board, the employee will be deemed to have admitted the violation. If the employee admits or is deemed to have admitted the violation, the employee will forfeit the incentive award in question. If the employee timely denies the violation, the Board will conduct such further investigations as it deems appropriate ("Investigation"). The Investigation must be completed within 90 days of the date the incentive award would otherwise have been paid but for the violation. Within 60 days after the Investigation has been completed, the Board shall determine whether the violation occurred. Its good faith determination shall be final and binding. The incentive award shall remain subject to forfeiture if and until the Board makes a final determination that it should be paid, and no amount shall be paid pending that determination. If the Board determines that there was no violation, the employee will receive the incentive award plus interest at the annual rate of 6% interest for the period of late payment in excess of 60 days between the date the Board makes its final determination following the Investigation and the date the incentive award would otherwise have been paid. This payment will be made by the earlier of (1) 30 days after the Board's determination following the Investigation, or (2) December 31 following the Board's determination.
- c) If an incentive award is paid to an employee but, within three years after the payment, the Board determines that the employee was not entitled to the payment because of a policy or regulatory violation, it will notify the employee in writing by certified mail or personal service on the employee. If the employee disputes that finding, the employee must so notify the Board in writing within 15 days of receiving the Board's notice. If the employee does not timely notify the Board, the employee will be deemed to have admitted the violation. If the employee timely denies the violation, the Board will conduct an Investigation. When the Investigation has been completed, the Board shall

determine whether the violation occurred. Its good faith determination shall be final and binding. If the Board determines that there was a violation, or if the employee admits the violation or is deemed to have admitted it, the employee must repay the incentive award, plus interest at the annual rate of 6% interest for the period from payment to repayment, within 365 days after the Board's determination following the Investigation.

- d) If at any time the Board determines the criteria used to determine an employee's incentive award were, with hindsight, improperly designed or otherwise mistaken, the Board may correct those criteria in any way, even if correction reduces or eliminates the incentive award the employee would otherwise receive.
- e) Notwithstanding anything else, an employee shall not be entitled to an incentive award to the extent the Board determines that payment of the incentive award would violate applicable law.

#### **Action Upon Unsatisfactory Performance**

Individuals must achieve a minimum Overall Performance Rating (see *Year-End Performance Appraisal Process*, page 24) of "Inconsistently Meets Expectations" and have complied with all CalPERS risk management and ethics-related principles, policies, and procedures to be eligible for incentive award payout.

Individuals who receive an Overall Performance Rating of "Does Not Meet Expectations" in their annual performance appraisal will be ineligible to receive any portion of the annual incentive award at any time for the year in which the unacceptable rating was received.

Individuals who receive an Overall Performance Rating of "Does Not Meet Expectations" in their annual performance appraisal will be ineligible to receive any portion of the long-term incentive award for the five-year performance period that ended the year they received the unacceptable rating.

In addition, individuals who receive an unacceptable rating and participate in the long-term incentive program will be subject to an initial long-term incentive award value of zero for the performance period that begins the year the unacceptable rating was received.

#### Continued Employment Requirement; Board Discretion Under Special Circumstances

Subject to the exceptions described below, an employee shall have no right to an incentive award for a fiscal year if their employment with CalPERS terminates for any reason other than the special situations outlined within the section below or is terminated for cause prior to the date on which incentive awards for such year are presented to and/or approved by the Board (generally in September following the performance period), whether or not such employee's individual incentive award is actually presented to or approved by the Board (the "Approval Date"), or, in the case of a deferred incentive award, prior to the Deferred Payment Date. For

purposes of this Policy, an employee will be deemed to have terminated employment with CalPERS if they have had a separation from service within the meaning of Treasury Regulation section 1.409A-1(h).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a former employee whose employment terminated on or after January 1 of the fiscal year to which the award relates on account of death, disability, retirement, or involuntary termination without cause, will be eligible to receive prorated annual and long-term incentive awards, in all cases subject to approval of the Board; provided, however, an employee will not be eligible for a prorated award if the employee substantially relinquishes their primary duties prior to January 1 (without regard to whether leave credits are being used and/or exhausted). In addition, where there are compelling circumstances, the Board may approve prorated annual and long-term incentive awards for a former employee whose employment terminated on or before December 31 of a fiscal year on account of death, disability, retirement, or involuntary termination without cause. If the Board does approve any incentive award to (or in the event of death, with respect to) such a former employee, then the term "Approval Date" shall refer to the date on which the Board approves the incentive award(s) to the former employee. In determining a former employee's prorated award, no credit will be given for any period after the date on which the individual substantially relinquishes their primary duties. For clarity, the Board shall be under no obligation to approve incentive awards for former employees and any such approval shall be within the discretion of the Board.

In all cases, if an employee's employment terminates voluntarily (other than retirement) or for cause prior to the Approval Date, or if applicable, Deferred Payment Date, the inventive award will be forfeited.

#### **Time of Payment**

Incentive Award payments shall be paid as soon as practicable following the Approval Date (or, if applicable, Deferred Payment Date), but in no event later than the 15th day of the third month following the end of the calendar year in which the Approval Date or Deferred Payment Date occurs or, if later, the 15th day of the third month following the end of the CalPERS fiscal year in which the applicable Approval Date or Deferred Payment Date occurs.

### **Special Pay**

#### Special Within-Range Base Pay Adjustment – Investment Management Positions

The Chief Investment Officer may, at any time during the year, recommend granting a special within-range base pay adjustment of up to 15% of annual base pay to an investment management team member covered by this policy, to address retention or internal equity issues. In extenuating circumstances, the within-range adjustment may exceed 15% of annual

base pay. All adjustments (up to and exceeding 15%) must be approved by the Chief Executive Officer by delegation from the Board and will be reported to the PCTMC.

Criteria considered in support of a Special Within-Range Base Pay Adjustment include the following:

- **Performance**: Individual performance that significantly and consistently exceeds expectations
- Equity: Demonstrated value of incumbent and/or inequity with relevant peers
- **Retention**: To retain competent investment professionals at risk of leaving to accept offers from other money managers or employers

#### Special Within-Range Base Pay Adjustment – Executive Positions

There may be extraordinary circumstances that warrant a covered executive's base pay rate be increased, in conjunction with or outside of the annual performance appraisal process, to address unique retention or pay equity considerations. When a Special Within-Range Base Pay Adjustment is deemed necessary for an executive, the following approvals are required:

Position	Approver
Chief Executive Officer	Board (upon recommendation of PCTMC)
Chief Actuary Chief Health Director Chief Financial Officer Chief Operating Officer Chief Investment Officer General Counsel	Chief Executive Officer (by delegation from the Board)

#### **Interim Appointment**

Interim appointments to covered positions may be made in instances where it is necessary to temporarily assign a team member the full range of responsibilities in a position until a new permanent appointment is completed. Such assignments shall typically be at least 60 days in duration. Interim incumbents may be eligible for additional pay while performing the interim higher-level duties. Additional pay may be based on factors such as level of duties and the base pay range of the vacant position.

Interim appointments and temporary additional compensation require the following approvals:

Position	Approver
Chief Executive Officer	Board (upon recommendation of PCTMC)

Position	Approver
Chief Actuary Chief Health Director Chief Financial Officer Chief Operating Officer Chief Investment Officer General Counsel	Chief Executive Officer (by delegation from the Board)
Deputy Chief Investment Officer Chief Operating Investment Officer Managing Investment Director Investment Director Investment Manager Associate Investment Manager	Chief Executive Officer (based upon recommendation of the Chief Investment Officer)

The Chief Executive Officer will report interim appointments and additional temporary compensation to the PCTMC and the Board.

#### **Recruitment Differential**

In order to attract and retain highly skilled executives and investment management professionals, a recruitment differential may be provided when hiring individuals from outside State service. It is a one-time, front-end payment upon appointment and is designated as an incentive to accept a position. The amount of the differential is specific to each eligible individual's personal circumstances. In no case shall a recruitment differential exceed 60% of a new hire's annual base pay. The following approvals are required:

Position	Approver
Chief Executive Officer	Board
	(upon recommendation of PCTMC)
Chief Actuary	Chief Executive Officer
Chief Health Director	(by delegation from the Board)
Chief Financial Officer	
Chief Operating Officer	
Chief Investment Officer	
General Counsel	
Deputy Chief Investment Officer	Chief Executive Officer
Chief Operating Investment Officer	(based upon recommendation of the Chief
Managing Investment Director	Investment Officer)
Investment Director	
Investment Manager	
Associate Investment Manager	

The following payback provisions apply to all employees awarded a recruitment differential:

- 100% payback is required if employed less than 12 full months from appointment date
- 50% payback is required if employed between 12 and 24 months from appointment date

Any exception to the repayment schedule requires approval of the Chief Executive Officer and/or other approving authority as listed above.

# Year-End Performance Appraisal Process (Incentive Awards and Base Pay Increase)

#### **Performance Appraisal Process Overview**

The year-end performance appraisal process is the basis of the payment of the annual incentive award and the individual base pay increase. The performance appraisal document is completed at the end of the plan/fiscal year and covers both individual achievement on the Annual Incentive Plan and general managerial performance as described below.

The Chief Executive Officer, with partial re-delegation to the Chief Investment Officer for the investment management positions, will approve performance appraisal outcomes and base pay increases within the established ranges for covered positions. The PCTMC completes the performance appraisal for the Chief Executive Officer.

#### **Annual Incentive Award Determination Process**

As part of the performance appraisal process, each participant must submit a year-end (2nd semiannual) status report to his/her immediate supervisor reflecting the final status of all Annual Incentive Plan measures. This comprehensive report is the basis for the annual incentive award.

For purposes of determining the annual incentive award amount, the following occurs:

- The primary evaluator assigns performance ratings (for qualitative measures) and comments, soliciting additional input if appropriate.
- Performance ratings on quantitative investment measures are determined by calculations performed by the Board's Investment Consultant, based upon investment performance data provided by the bank engaged to provide custodial services to CalPERS, as well as other relevant sources.
- Using calculations received from the Board's Investment Consultant, Human Resources aggregates the quantitative factor multipliers (ratings), adds in the impact of qualitative factors ratings, and calculates the dollar value of the annual incentive award.
- CalPERS' external auditor or other select independent advisor will review and assess the
  accuracy of data and processes used to calculate the results of all Organizational
  Performance Outcome performance achievement prior to any award being paid.

Final approval of incentive awards is defined as shown in the *Performance Appraisal Approval Process* section of the policy on pages 25 and 26.

#### **Base Pay Increase and Overall Performance Rating Scale**

The general assessment of managerial performance and the Overall Performance Rating is the basis for consideration of a participant's base pay increase. Base Pay Increases are administered separately and apart from the Annual Incentive Plan. At the end of the plan/fiscal year (June 30), all participants prepare a year-end Summary of Accomplishments highlighting their most noteworthy achievements not covered in the incentive plan. The primary evaluator completes the assessment of the individual's general managerial performance and assigns an Overall Performance Rating.

The Overall Performance Rating, as indicated in the *Standard Performance Levels and Definitions* (pages 5 and 6), is the basis for consideration of a base pay increase as defined in the matrix on page 9.

#### **Performance Appraisal Approval Process**

The following depicts the primary evaluator and final approver for all performance appraisal outcomes:

Position	Primary Evaluator	Provides Input	Approver(s)
Chief Executive Officer	PCTMC	Board members not on PCTMC	Board (upon recommendation of PCTMC)
Chief Actuary Chief Financial Officer Chief Health Director Chief Investment Officer Chief Operating Officer General Counsel	Chief Executive Officer	PCTMC and other Board members (optional)	Chief Executive Officer (by delegation from the Board)
Deputy Chief Investment Officer	Chief Investment Officer	Chief Executive Officer	Chief Executive Officer (by delegation from the Board; based on recommendation of Chief Investment Officer)
Chief Operating Investment Officer	Deputy Chief Investment Officer	Chief Investment Officer	Chief Executive Officer (by delegation from the Board; based on recommendation of Chief Investment Officer)
Managing Investment Director	Deputy Chief Investment Officer	Chief Investment Officer	Chief Executive Officer (by delegation from the Board; based on recommendation of Chief Investment Officer)
Investment Director	Managing Investment Director	Chief Investment Officer Chief Operating Investment Officer	Chief Executive Officer (by delegation from the Board; based on recommendation of Chief Investment Officer)

Position	Primary Evaluator	Provides Input	Approver(s)
Investment Manager	Investment Director	Managing Investment Director Chief Operating Investment Officer	Chief Executive Officer (by delegation from the Board; based on recommendation of Chief Investment Officer)
Associate Investment Manager	Investment Manager	Managing Investment Director Chief Operating Investment Officer	Chief Executive Officer (by delegation from the Board; based on recommendation of Chief Investment Officer)

## **Revision History**

This policy has been approved as follows:

Effective Date	Approved by	Description of Changes (if needed)	
7/1/2019	Board of Administration	Addition of Chief Health Director and Chief Operating Officer positions	
		Updated base pay and incentive ranges (effective 7/1/2019)	
		Other revisions related to policy administration (e.g., base pay Merit Matrix, tax section, award calculation based on employee's start date in covered position)	
7/1/2019	Board of Administration	Updated base pay range for General Counsel position	
		Addition of Long-Term Incentive Program	
9/18/2019	Board of Administration	Addition of Deputy Chief Investment Officer position	
7/1/2020	Board of Administration	Updated base pay range for Chief Executive Officer position	
11/18/2021	Not applicable	Document made accessible	
7/1/2022	Board of Administration (6/15/2022)	Refined treatment of prorated awards, continued employment requirements, and Board discretion under special circumstances (e.g., retirement, death, disability, or involuntary termination without cause)	
		Other revisions related to policy administration, including: base pay upon appointment, elements of annual incentive plan, status reports, sample investment return payout table, long-term incentive award opportunity, discretionary performance adjustments, recruitment differential, and treatment of base pay increases in situations of promotion within the last six months of the fiscal year	
7/1/2022	Board of Administration (1/17/2023)	Updated base pay ranges for Chief Actuary, General Counsel, Chief Financial Officer, and Chief Health Director (effective 7/1/2022)	
11/30/2022	Board of Administration	Added weightings to comparator groups	
	(11/30/2022 and 2/13/2023)	Revised Salary Adjustment Matrix and Standard Performance Levels and Definitions	
07/01/2023	Board of Administration (04/18/2023)	Revised base salary ranges for Chief Actuary, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Health Director, Chief Operating Officer, General Counsel, Chief Investment Officer, Chief Operating Investment Officer, and Associate Investment Officer.	
		Revised annual and/or long-term incentive ranges for all executive and investment management classifications; removed Chief Health Director incentive eligibility.	